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marble, brownstone, stucco, or cast iron. Trim is usually of wood or
stone for the earlier buildings and after 1850 often of iron. ‘
Buildings of the late 18th and early 19th centuries are residential in
character and occasionally in function, two or three-and-a-half stories
with gable roofs. Those of the mid-19th century (1830~80), however,
are commercial buildings, four or five stories with flat roofs, often
with a store front of a material different from the upper stories.

Very few of the buildings, almost exclusively those in Elfreth's -
Alley, have been restored. The rest of the buildings remain with

~ their exteriors and interiors in various degrees of alteration, but

most of them have been altered but slightly over the years.

The commercial character of the Old City area is predominant.
The neighborhood is a showecase of 19th-century wholesale-retail stores
and warehouses. Among the more outstanding examples is the John
Singer warehouse at the rear of 319 Market Street, the oldest surviving
warehouse in Philadelphia. The three-and-a-half-story brick building
was built in 1806 and is similar to the LaTour warehouse on South
Water Street that was demolished in 1967. Nearby the architect S. D.

- Button provided in the five-story Leland Building, 37-39 South Third

Street, an early (1855) architectural solution for the tall, narrow
commercial building by recessing the spandrels behind continuous
granite piers to emphasize verticality. The commercial building at
the northwest cormer of Front and Arch Stréets is a fine example of
mid-19th-century cast-iron architecture. ' Built between 1855 and 1857, -
it has brick bearing walls and a cast-iron front with an arcade at
each of its five stories articulated by engaged columms, originally
sanded and painted to simulate marble.

Throughout the area are entire blocks of commercial buildings that
are as significant as individual structures. The west side of North
Front Street between Market and Arch Streets (2-66 N, Front Street)
is a rare surviving block of early-l19th-century brick warehouses,
characterized by marble piers at most of the ground stories. The north

. side of Chestnut Street between Strawberry and Third Streets (213-43.Chest~

nut Street) serves as a catalogue of mid~-19th~century commercial
architecture, displaying brick, brownstone, granite, and cast-iron facades
with a variety of designs ranging from the academic to the utilitarian.
The east side of North Third Street between Market and Arch Streets

(1 ~63 N. Third Street) is even more stylistically diverse, ranging from
gable-roof brick stores to Italianate and Gothic designs in iron and
sandstone.

In spite of its commercial character the area retains some of the
nation's most famous residences. Elfreth's Alley, designated a
National Historic Landmark in 1965, is the oldest unchanged and
continually inhabited street in Philadelphia and illustrates the
typical side-street dwellings of 1l8th-century artisans. Twenty-nine
contiguous brick houses extend along this: six~foot-wide alley between.

 Front and Second Streets above Arch Street. Five similar dwellings

(see Continuation Sheet)

, In spite of the diversity of architectural styles in the Old City:.»,
- area most of the buildings are brick, a minority faced with granite,
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are at 12-18 and 24 Cuthbert Street (formerly Coombe's Alley), a
~parallel alley below Arch Street, Unlike their neighbors on Elfreth's
- 'Alley, these houses have not been restored or rehabilitated.

Less famous than Elfreth's Alley yet significant, is the German

German School) on the south, Nos. 129-37, 141-43 North Fourth Street
on the west, and the First Reformed Church, 322-30 Race Street, on
the north., All of these properties were owned by the German Reformed
Church in the early 19th century and played a prominent role in the
predominantly German neighborhood. The Reformed Church was founded in
Philadelphia in 1727 and erected its first church building on this
site in 1747. The present building was its third structure, built
in 1837; since 1967 it has been in the process of restoration.
Abutting the church's lot to the south is the two-and-a-half-story
brick Old German School. Built in 1761, most of its original fabric
was destroyed by a fire in 1878; it has recently been renovated into
a florist shop. The seven houses on North Fairth Street were built
as dwellings during the late 18th and early 19th centuries, and are
now being renovated into shops and homes, illustrating how old
structures can be converted to contemporary use without disrupting
or destroying the architectural scale or historic nature of a neighborhood.
The Betsy Ross House, 239 :'Arch Street, is one of the best known
houses in Philadelphia, popularly accepted, even if not historically
documented, as the residence of Betsy Ross, the legendary maker of the
first flag of the United States. The two-and-a-half-stotry brick town

but has become a national shrine because of its supposed associations with
Betsy Ross. It was built c. 1760, conjecturally restored in the 1930's,
and in 1966 a wing for visitors' center was added to the rear.

Some of the oldest and most significant churches in the United
States are found within this area. Christ Church, 22-26 North Second
Street, an outstanding example of Palladian church architecture in the
United States, was built between 1727 and 1744; its steeple was
completed in 1754. Many Revolutionary heroes worshipped here, helping
it to be named a National Shrine by Act of Congress in 1950. A block to
the west, at 330 Arch Street, is the Arch Street Friends Meeting, built
in 1804 from the designs of Owen Biddle, author of The Young Carpenter's
Assistant (1805) , and enlarged in 1811, A center of 19th-century Quaker
activity, it remains the site of the Philadelphia Yearly Meeting and was
recently put on the National Register.

A block further north, at 322-30 Race Street, Old First (German)
Reformed Church is being restored to its 1837 appearance. Another block
to the north, at the southeast and northwest corners of Fourth and New
Streets stand St. George's Methodist Episcopal Church and St. Augustine's
Roman Catholic Church respectively. St. George's Church, also on the
National Register, was built in 1769 and remains the world's oldest

(see Continuation Sheet)

house is a fine example of 1l8th~century Philadelphia domestic architecture,

Reformed Church district, an area including 327 Cherry Street (01d .
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Methodist Church in continuous use. St. Augustine's was originally
built between 1796 and 1801 but was burned during the "Native American”
riots of 1844; the present building dates from 1848. :
Although famous Bank Row, Chestnut Street between Faurth and Fifth
Streets, lies just outside the officially designated Old City area,
three important bank buildings remain within the area. Bank of North
' America, 307 Chestnut Street, was the first commercial bark in the United

merged with the First Pennsylvania Banking and Trust Campany and continued
© to occupy the present, original site until 1967. The present Late o
Victorian Roman Revival building was built in 1895 from the designs of ..~
James H, Windrim. ’ I S

Adjacent to the Bank of North America, at 315 Chestnut Street, is
the First National Bank, the first national bank chartered in the United =
States. John McArthur, Jr. designed the chaste Italianate building, o
which was erected between 1865 and 1867 and is now a branch bank of the
First Pennsylvania Banking and Trust Company. Nearby is the Mechanics
Bank, 22 South Third Street. Built in 1837 it remains one of the
last local Greek Revival designs of the noted architect-engineer William
Strickland. It has been used as the Norwegian Seamen's Church since
1930, Other bank buildings of less importance are also in the area,
including the Manufacturers National Bank, 29 North Third Street s and one
at 18 South Third Street with notable Egyptian-Revival Doors.
R,
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The 01d City area is part of the original 1682 plan of the city
of Philadelphia as laid out by Thomas Holme, surveyor for the
province's proprietor, William Penn. .In terms of architectural style
and historic significance it remains one of the most important parts
of the city. It includes some of the city's famous residences, historic
churches, important financial institutions, and perhaps most
importantly rare surviving 19th-century commercial districts, probably
without equal in the United States for their extent and diversity.

Although the area possesses some significant buildings, some of
which have been restored, equally as important is the promise of the
area for future renovations into a residential-commercial neighborhood.
It is relatively isolated from the bustle of the large retail and
office buildings of the city's center., Superhighways border the area
to the north and east. Society Hill, a successfully restored and
preserved historic residential district, borders it to the south, and
the Independence National Historic Park encampassing some of the , .
most historically significant buildings .in'the nation,. borders much
of the area to the west. Preservation and developmert-of the Old.. .
City area would create a large, contiguous dlstrict of historic o
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